IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

FLOR MORENCY; KEYSHA NEWELL; BONNIE YBARRA; AAA SCHOLARSHIP FOUNDATION, INC.; SKLAR WILLIAMS PLLC; ENVIRONMENTAL DESIGN GROUP, LLC,

Appellants,

VS.

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This Court has jurisdiction over this appeal under NRAP 3A(b)(1). In the proceeding below, final judgment was entered May 20, 2020, in favor of all Defendants-Respondents as a matter of law on all causes of action and claims for relief. 4 JA 558. Plaintiffs-Appellants filed their timely notice of appeal on May 29, 2020. 4 JA 560.

ROUTING STATEMENT

Under NRAP 17(a), this case shall be retained by the Supreme Court for two reasons:

First, the only issue in this case is a question of first impression involving Article 4, Section 18(2) of the Nevada Constitution. *See* NRAP 17(a)(11); 4 JA 543. This Court has never considered whether a bill should have received a supermajority under Article 4, Section 18(2).

Second, this matter raises a question of statewide public importance for two reasons. *See* NRAP 17(a)(12). First, it concerns whether the Legislature needs a two-thirds supermajority to raise revenue by repealing tax credits under the Nevada Constitution. 4 JA 543. Second, it concerns the Legislature's attempt to repeal tax credits that support Nevada's Choice Scholarship Program, resulting in the loss of scholarships and educational hardship to low-income families across the state. 1 JA 53; *see Schwartz v. Lopez*, 132 Nev. 732, 744, 382 P.3d 886, 895 (2016) (holding cases concerning education funding "are of significant statewide importance . . . under the public-importance exception" to standing).

ISSUE PRESENTED

Article 4, Section 18(2) of the Nevada Constitution requires a two-thirds legislative supermajority vote for a bill that "creates, generates, or increases any public revenue in any form." Assembly Bill 458 (2019) increased general fund revenue by repealing tax credits, but it did not receive a two-thirds supermajority vote in the Nevada Senate. Is A.B. 458 constitutional?

.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case is a constitutional challenge to Assembly Bill 458 (2019).

Plaintiffs-Appellants filed their Complaint against the Department of Education and Department of Taxation (collectively, the State) on August 15, 2019. 1 JA 1–2, 16. On September 23, 2019, the Nevada Legislature moved to intervene as a defendant, which Plaintiffs-Appellants did not oppose and which the district court granted. 1 JA 30–31. The Legislature filed its Answer on October 10, 2019. 1 JA 32. The State filed a motion to dismiss, which the district court denied. 1 JA 49–54. The State filed its Answer on January 14, 2020. 1 JA 56.

All parties cross-moved for summary judgment. 2 JA 63, 2 JA 106–07, 3 JA 214–15. On May 20, 2020, the Eighth Judicial District Court granted the State's and Legislature's motions for summary judgment, denied Plaintiffs-Appellants' motion for summary judgment, and entered final judgment in favor of the State and Legislature. 4 JA 543, 558. Plaintiffs-Appellants timely appealed that May 20, 2020 order. 4 JA 562.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In 2019 the Legislature passed, and the Governor approved, Assembly Bill 458. See A.B. 458—Overview—Bill History, https://www.leg.state.nv.us/App/NELIS/REL/80th2019/Bill/6878/Overview. A.B. 458 eliminated tax credits that would have otherwise been available to Nevada businesses who donate to Nevada's Educational Choice Scholarship Program. See 2019 Nevada Laws Ch. 366 (A.B. 458). Consequently, A.B. 458 limited the number of scholarships the Scholarship Program could provide to low-income families. See 2 JA 96 ¶¶ 25–27. This case concerns whether A.B. 458 is constitutional. 4 JA 543.

I. Nevada's Educational Choice Scholarship Program Uses Tax Credits to Incentivize Donations to Private Scholarship Organizations.

Businesses that pay Nevada's payroll or excise taxes may qualify for a tax credit if they donate money to scholarships under Nevada's Educational Choice Scholarship Program. *See* NRS 363A.139(1); NRS 363B.119(1). The Scholarship Program provides tax credits for businesses that donate to registered scholarship organizations. *Id.* These scholarship organizations then distribute the scholarship funds to low-income Nevada families. NRS 388D.270(1)(e).

Most business donors would not donate to a scholarship organization without the tax credits provided by the Scholarship Program. 2 JA 96 ¶ 25. Businesses wishing to receive a tax credit apply for one with the scholarship organization of their choice. *See* NRS 363A.139(2); NRS 363B.119(2). The

scholarship organization then sends the tax-credit application to the Department of Taxation. *Id.* Tax credits are distributed on a first-come, first-served basis. NRS 363A.139(3); NRS 363B.119(3). If tax credits are available, the Department of Taxation issues a credit to the business donor, contingent on the business fulfilling its pledged donation. *See* NRS 363A.139(2); NRS 363B.119(2). However, if tax credits are not available, the donor must pay in taxes what it otherwise would have donated. *See id.*; 2 JA 102 ¶ 11, 104 ¶ 11.

The Scholarship Program is dependent on private donations: 100 percent of scholarships are donor-funded. 2 JA 96 ¶ 25. Under the Scholarship Program, there is a limited number of tax credits available each year. NRS 363A.139(4); NRS 363B.119(4). To compensate for rising education costs and growing families, the program's original design included a 10 percent annual increase in the amount of tax credits and related scholarships. 2015 Nev. Laws Ch. 22, § 4 (A.B. 165).

A.B. 458 reduced the number of tax credits available in fiscal year 2019–20, and each year thereafter, to \$6,655,000. 2019 Nevada Laws Ch. 366 §§ 1–2 (A.B. 458). A.B. 458 thus removed \$665,500 of tax credits for the current 2019–20 school year, \$1,397,550 of tax credits for the 2020–21 school year, and many millions more of tax credits in the years following. *See id.*; 2 JA 96 ¶ 27. And with each reduction in credits comes a reduction in available scholarships to low-income families. 2 JA 96–97 ¶ 29.

II. The Legislature Passes A.B. 458 to Repeal Scholarship Program Tax Credits, but the Bill Does Not Get a Supermajority Vote in the Senate.

The Scholarship Program is popular: Each year, all the tax credits are claimed. 2 JA 96 ¶¶ 23–26. But because of a desire to increase state revenues, as shown below, the Scholarship Program found itself on the chopping block.

After its initial proposal, A.B. 458 was referred to the Assembly Committee on Taxation. See A.B. 458—Overview—Past Hearings, https://www.leg.state.nv. us/App/NELIS/REL/80th2019/Bill/6878/Overview (stating bill first heard in Assembly Taxation Committee on April 4, 2019). In the Tax Committee, the bill's sponsor stated that the intent of the bill was to budget responsibly, accounting for "revenue and shortfalls." Minutes of Assemb. Comm. on Tax'n at 3, 80th Leg. (Nev. April 4, 2019), https://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/80th2019/Minutes/ Assembly/TAX/Final/792.pdf. When asked why the state would cut the popular Scholarship Program, the sponsor responded that "[w]e are not in the business of just giving away money in this state." *Id.* at 4. He continued, "[q]uite frankly, I think some of the resources we do not collect in the way of these taxes, and give away, is money we are taking away from the rest of the population." *Id*. The bill's sponsor insisted that A.B. 458 had nothing to do with education policy, it was simply a matter of prudent budgeting: "I am not trying to get rid of [the

Scholarship Program], but I do think that 10 percent automatic growth factor is just not a responsible way to budget in any capacity." *Id*.

While in the Assembly's Tax Committee, Defendant-Respondent Department of Taxation reviewed the bill. Dep't of Tax'n, Fiscal Note on A.B. 458 (Nev. Apr. 4, 2019), https://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/80th2019/FiscalNotes/ 9327.pdf. The Department "determined [A.B. 458] would increase general fund revenue by \$665,500 in fiscal year 2019-20 and \$1,397,550 in fiscal year 2020-21," and it therefore labeled the bill as a "revenue" item. *Id*. The Department further explained that the bill reduced the amount of tax credits: "Under [the] existing statute the amount of credits available is \$7,320,500 in fiscal year 2019-20 and \$8,052,550 in fiscal year 2020-21. Sections 1 and 2 change the credits available for donations to a scholarship organization to a maximum of \$6,655,000 available each fiscal year." Id. The Governor's Office of Finance reviewed the Department of Taxation's fiscal note and found that it "appears reasonable." Id. A.B. 458 passed the Assembly with the constitutionally required two-thirds supermajority vote and was then transmitted to the Senate. A.B. 458—Votes, https://www.leg.state.nv.us/App/NELIS/REL/80th2019/Bill/6878/Votes.

Once in the Senate, A.B. 458 was referred to the "revenue and economic development" committee. A.B. 458—Overview—Past Hearings, https://www.leg.state.nv.us/App/NELIS/REL/80th2019/Bill/6878/Overview (stating bill

heard in Senate Revenue and Economic Development Committee on May 2, 2019). There, the bill's sponsor cited budgetary concerns and argued that the Legislature has "an obligation to fund our budget responsibly." Minutes of S. Comm. on Revenue & Econ. Dev. at 4, 80th Leg. (Nev. May 2, 2019), https://www.leg. state.nv.us/Session/80th2019/Minutes/Senate/RED/Final/1120.pdf. Without the tax credits, he said, more money would "otherwise be in the General Fund." *Id.* at 3. He expressed his support for the Scholarship Program and stated that "[t]here is no doubt families have benefitted." *Id.* But, he said, "[w]ith the challenges our budget is facing, we have to take a measured approach and budget responsibly." *Id.* at 4.

The sponsor was asked whether, instead of reducing tax credits by so large an amount, he had considered allowing the bill to grow with inflation or other fixed costs. *Id.* The sponsor responded that such growth was "not consistent with [his] intent" because the state needs revenue: "We have to locate revenue to pay for rollups and raises, but every dollar we add to Opportunity Scholarships is a dollar we deplete from the General Fund." *Id.*

As the bill reached the Senate floor, it became clear there were not enough votes to pass A.B. 458 with a supermajority: The Las Vegas Review-Journal editorialized that the "Two-thirds requirement could save Opportunity Scholarships." Victor Joecks, *Two-thirds requirement could save Opportunity Scholarships*, Las Vegas Review-Journal (April 11, 2019), https://www.review

journal.com/opinion/opinion-columns/victor-joecks/two-thirds-requirement-could-save-opportunity-scholarships-video-1639289/. The Legislative Counsel Bureau then released an opinion arguing that a two-thirds supermajority was not required to repeal tax credits: "Nevada's two-thirds majority requirement does not apply to a bill which reduces or eliminates available tax exemptions or tax credits because such a reduction or elimination does not change the existing computation bases or statutory formulas used to calculate the underlying state taxes." 3 JA 255, 277 (Legislative Counsel Bureau, *Op. regarding the two-thirds majority requirement in Article 4, Section 18(2) of the Nevada Constitution* (May 8, 2019)).

The Senate passed A.B. 458 short of a two-thirds supermajority. A.B. 458—Votes, https://www.leg.state.nv.us/App/NELIS/REL/80th2019/Bill/6878/Votes.

The Governor signed the bill on June 3, 2019, and it became effective on July 1, 2019. A.B. 458—Overview—Bill History, https://www.leg.state.nv.us/App/NELIS/REL/80th2019/Bill/6878/Overview.

III. By Repealing Tax Credits, A.B. 458 Requires Businesses to Pay More in Taxes and Reduces Scholarships Available to Low-Income Families.

The Plaintiffs-Appellants are two Nevada businesses, a registered scholarship organization, and three Nevada families. 4 JA 545. A.B. 458 has negatively affected each. *See* 1 JA 52–53.

Plaintiffs-Appellants Sklar Williams PLLC and Environmental Design Group have donated to scholarship organizations and received tax credits. 2 JA 102 ¶ 8, 104 ¶ 8. Because A.B. 458 reduced the tax credits available, and because each year all the available tax credits are claimed, their chances of receiving a tax credit in exchange for their donations are lower. 2 JA 102 ¶ 10, 104 ¶ 10. Without the tax credits, the Sklar Williams and Environmental Design Group will pay more in taxes. 2 JA 102 ¶ 11, 104 ¶ 11.

Plaintiff-Appellant AAA Scholarship Foundation, Inc. is a registered scholarship organization that distributes scholarships to families in need. 2 JA 94–95 ¶¶ 8–10. Since the Program's enactment, AAA has distributed scholarships to over a thousand low-income Nevada students. 2 JA 95 ¶ 11. The majority of Nevada families served by AAA have been racial or ethnic minorities and over 50 percent were at or below 185 percent of the federal poverty line. 2 JA 95 ¶¶ 12–13. Those families currently choose to send their children to 58 different schools. 2 JA 95 ¶ 19. Without tax credits, most of AAA's business donors would not donate. 2 JA 96 ¶ 25. The tax credits are a significant incentive and, each year, all the tax credits are claimed. 2 JA 96 ¶ 26. By removing millions of tax credits, A.B. 458 has removed millions of scholarship funds from organizations like AAA. 2 JA 96 ¶ 27. AAA will not, without additional donations incentivized by future tax-credits,

be able to fully fund scholarships for all the students it currently serves. 2 JA 96–97 \P 29.

Plaintiff-Appellants Flor Morency, Bonnie Ybarra, and Keysha Newell, are three Nevada mothers whose children have benefited from the Scholarship Program. *See* 1 JA 52. Their access to scholarships has been directly affected by A.B. 458. 1 JA 52–53.

Plaintiff-Appellant Morency is the mother of twin children who lost scholarships following A.B. 458's passage. 2 JA 83–84 ¶¶ 8, 19. In public school, her son was bullied because of his small size—a situation worsened by overcrowded public school classrooms. 2 JA 83–84 ¶¶ 10–14. Morency, a Salvadoran immigrant, applied to a scholarship organization and was granted two scholarships under the Scholarship Program, allowing her to send her children to a private school. 2 JA 84 ¶¶ 16–17. Since enrolling him in a private school, Morency has seen a marked improvement in her son's grades. 2 JA 84 ¶ 18. But last summer, after A.B. 458 went into effect, she received a letter from her scholarship organization stating that A.B. 458 made it a "statistical impossibility" to award her children a scholarship for the 2019–20 school year. 2 JA 84 ¶ 19. After the filing this case, Morency's children were granted scholarships from a different scholarship organization, Plaintiff-Appellant AAA. 2 JA 84 ¶ 22. But she is concerned that there will not be enough long-term funding to provide for her

children's private school education. 2 JA 84 ¶ 23. And she is worried that her youngest child, not yet of school age, will never be able to participate in the Program. 2 JA 84 ¶ 24.

Plaintiff-Appellant Ybarra is the mother of three young children, ages 10, 8, and 5. 2 JA 86 ¶ 6. One of her children did not do well in public school, receiving mostly D's and F's. 2 JA 86 ¶ 8. And another was physically assaulted, bullied, and described by her teachers as "working at the speed of a snail." 2 JA 86 ¶ 9. Ybarra first tried to work with the public school to identify appropriate supports for her children's learning, but to no avail. 2 JA 86–87 ¶ 10. Ybarra then applied for scholarships under the Scholarship Program. She received partial scholarships for both children, covering most of the tuition cost. 2 JA 87 ¶¶ 11–12. Since starting in private school, her academically struggling child has developed much better study habits, earning mostly A's and B's. 2 JA 87 ¶ 14. But last July, Ybarra received a notice that A.B. 458 made it "statistically impossible" to renew her children's scholarships. 2 JA 87 ¶ 18. Ybarra was able to receive small scholarships from Plaintiff AAA, but a \$16,000 tuition gap remains. 2 JA 87 ¶ 19. She cannot afford to pay the remaining \$16,000. 2 JA 88 ¶ 20. The private school agreed to reduce rates for Ybarra for the 2019–20 school year, on the condition that she occasionally work at the school and pay \$240, out-of-pocket, each month. 2 JA 88 ¶ 22. But the school cannot offer this generous arrangement in the future. 2 JA 88 ¶ 24. And, as

of now, that school will close in part because so many students lost their scholarship funding. 4 JA 464 ¶¶ 3–4. The school calculated that its students lost a combined \$240,000 in scholarships following the passage of A.B. 458. 4 JA 464 ¶ 3.

Plaintiff-Appellant Keysha Newell is the mother of two children, ages 7 and 3. 2 JA 91 ¶ 6. Her older daughter struggled in public school and has been diagnosed with a learning disability. 2 JA 91 ¶ 8. Although her daughter received special education services in preschool, in kindergarten she was mainstreamed by the public school. 2 JA 91 ¶ 9. Newell's requests for additional learning assistance went unheeded. 2 JA 91 ¶ 10. Newell then applied for and received a scholarship under the Scholarship Program. 2 JA 92 ¶ 11–12. Once enrolled in a private Montessori school, her daughter excelled both academically and socially. 2 JA 92 ¶¶ 11, 13. A.B. 458 has jeopardized Newell's future access to scholarships: If tuition goes up, and her daughter's scholarship decreases or remains the same, Newell will be unable to afford the Montessori school. 2 JA 92 ¶ 22. Newell cannot afford to spend any additional income on private school tuition. 2 JA 93 ¶ 21. In addition, given Newell's experience with her daughter, she wishes to apply for a scholarship for her younger son so that he can have the same learning opportunities as his sister. 2 JA 92 ¶ 16. But without additional tax credits, additional scholarships will not be available. See 1 JA 52; 2 JA 96 ¶ 27.

IV. The Plaintiffs-Appellants Sue to Enjoin A.B. 458 Under Article 4, Section 18(2) of the Nevada Constitution.

Plaintiffs-Appellants sued the Department of Education and the Department of Taxation (collectively "the State"), seeking an injunction against the enforcement of A.B. 458. 1 JA 2–3, 16. Under Article 4, Section 18(2) of the Nevada Constitution, each house of the Legislature must pass any bill that "creates, generates, or increases any public revenue in any form" by a two-thirds supermajority vote. Plaintiffs-Appellants alleged that A.B. 458 was unconstitutional because it raised revenue by repealing tax credits, but it did not receive a two-thirds supermajority in the Nevada Senate. 1 JA 15. The district court granted the Nevada Legislature's unopposed motion to intervene as a defendant, 1 JA 30–31.

The State filed a motion to dismiss arguing that Plaintiffs lacked standing, did not have ripe claims, and failed to state a legal claim. 1 JA 52. The district court denied the motion, finding that each of the Plaintiffs has standing and that Plaintiffs' claims are ripe. 1 JA 54. However, the district court reserved judgment on whether Plaintiffs stated a claim until completion of summary judgment briefing. 1 JA 54. All parties then cross-moved for summary judgment. 4 JA 543.

After a hearing, the district court denied Plaintiffs-Appellants' motion for summary judgment, and it granted the State's and Legislature's motions for summary judgment. 4 JA 542–43, 558. It did so on two grounds: First, it held that

Article 4, Section 18(2) did not apply because A.B. 458 did not raise revenue. 4 JA 551. Second, it held that, even if A.B. 458 did raise revenue, Article 4, Section 18(2) of the Nevada Constitution categorically does not apply to repeals of tax exemptions or credits. 4 JA 556–57. Plaintiffs-Appellants timely filed their notice of appeal. 4 JA 562.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Article 4, Section 18(2) of the Nevada Constitution requires that the Legislature obtain a two-thirds supermajority, in each legislative house, "to pass a bill or joint resolution which creates, generates, or increases any public revenue in any form." Assembly Bill 458 increased revenue in the form of a bill repealing tax credits. But A.B. 458 did not receive a supermajority in the Nevada Senate. Thus, A.B. 458 did not receive the constitutionally required votes and should be enjoined.

The district court, however, concluded that A.B. 458 did not raise revenue and, even if it did, Article 4, Section 18(2) applies only to bills creating "new taxes," not to bills repealing tax credits. This was error.

First, A.B. 458 increased revenue because repealing tax credits increases tax receipts. Without the tax credits, Nevada businesses will pay more taxes into the state's general fund. Increasing revenue is the entire point of removing tax credits, and that was A.B. 458's purpose here. A.B. 458's legislative history shows that revenue and budgeting, not education policy, was the purpose of the bill. This Court should therefore reject Defendants-Respondents' position, formed after this litigation began, that A.B. 458 does not increase "any public revenue." Nev. Const. art. 4, § 18(2).

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