IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Legislature could reasonably conclude that AB 458 was not subject to the two-thirds requirement because the actual effect of the bill did not raise or increase public revenue in any form and, in fact, did not alter public revenue at all, which was the Legislature's clear intent when it passed AB 458. The Plaintiffs attempt to ignore the actual effect of the bill by arguing that AB 458 raised or increased public revenue because it eliminated potential future increases in subsection 4 credits in future biennia. However, when the Legislature passed AB 458, those potential future increases in subsection 4 credits were not legally operative and binding until the beginning of the fiscal year on July 1, 2019, and the beginning of each fiscal year thereafter.

By eliminating the potential future increases in subsection 4 credits before they became legally operative and binding, the Legislature did not change—but maintained—the existing legally operative amount of subsection 4 credits at **\$6,655,000**, which is the amount that was legally in effect before the passage of AB 458 and which is the amount that is now legally in effect after the passage of AB 458. Consequently, based on the actual effect of the bill, the Legislature could reasonably conclude that AB 458 did not create, generate or increase any public revenue in any form because the bill did not change—but maintained—the existing legally operative amount of subsection 4 credits at **\$6,655,000**. Under such circumstances, "the Legislature is entitled to deference in its counseled selection of this interpretation." <u>Nev. Mining</u>, 117 Nev. at 540.

Furthermore, even assuming for the sake of argument that AB 458 changed or reduced the amount of subsection 4 credits, the Legislature still could reasonably conclude that AB 458 was not subject to the two-thirds requirement because the legislative framers of the two-thirds requirement did not intend to include changes in tax credits in the constitutional provision. Because changes in tax credits do not change the existing "computation bases" or statutory formulas used to calculate a taxpayer's liability for the underlying state taxes, changes in tax credits are not of the same kind, class or nature as changes in "taxes, fees, assessments and rates" or "changes in the computation bases for taxes, fees, assessments and rates." Therefore, by expressly mentioning those tax-related changes in the two-thirds requirement—while clearly omitting any references to changes in tax credits—it must be presumed that the legislative framers did not intend to include any changes in tax credits in the two-thirds requirement.

Moreover, even if the legislative framers intended to include changes in tax credits in the constitutional provision, the Legislature still could reasonably conclude that AB 458 did not change—but maintained—the existing "computation bases" or statutory formulas used to calculate the underlying state taxes to which the subsection 4 credits are applicable. Because the subsection 4 credits are not part of the existing "computation bases" or statutory formulas used by the Department of Taxation to calculate a taxpayer's liability under the MBT, the Legislature could reasonably conclude that AB 458 did not change—but maintained—those existing "computation bases" or statutory formulas and therefore did not change any "taxes, fees, assessments and rates."

Finally, the Legislature's reasonable interpretation of the two-thirds requirement is supported by: (1) contemporaneous extrinsic evidence of the purpose and intent of Nevada's two-thirds requirement; and (2) case law from other states interpreting similar supermajority requirements that served as the model for Nevada's two-thirds requirement. In passing AB 458, the Legislature

16

acted on the Legislative Counsel's legal opinion interpreting the two-thirds requirement in light of that contemporaneous extrinsic evidence and case law, and "the Legislature is entitled to deference in its counseled selection of this interpretation." <u>Nev. Mining</u>, 117 Nev. at 540.

ARGUMENT

I. Standards for reviewing the district court's summary-judgment order and Plaintiffs' state constitutional claims.

Because the Plaintiffs' state constitutional claims raise only issues of law, the district court's decision granting summary judgment and denying declaratory and injunctive relief is reviewed de novo on appeal. <u>Nevadans for Nev. v. Beers</u>, 122 Nev. 930, 942 (2006). The question of whether a statute is constitutional is also reviewed de novo on appeal. <u>Id.</u> at 939.

In reviewing the constitutionality of a statute, this Court presumes the statute is constitutional, and "[i]n case of doubt, every possible presumption will be made in favor of the constitutionality of a statute, and courts will interfere only when the Constitution is clearly violated." <u>List v. Whisler</u>, 99 Nev. 133, 137 (1983). The presumption places a heavy burden on the challenger to make "a clear showing that the statute is unconstitutional." <u>Id.</u> at 138. Consequently, this Court will not invalidate a statute on constitutional grounds unless the statute's invalidity appears "beyond a reasonable doubt." <u>Cauble v. Beemer</u>, 64 Nev. 77, 101 (1947); <u>State ex</u>

<u>rel. Lewis v. Doron</u>, 5 Nev. 399, 408 (1870) ("[E]very statute is to be upheld, unless plainly and without reasonable doubt in conflict with the Constitution.").

Furthermore, it is a fundamental rule of constitutional review that this Court "will not declare an act void because it disagrees with the wisdom of the Legislature." <u>Anthony v. State</u>, 94 Nev. 337, 341 (1978). Thus, in reviewing the constitutionality of a statute, this Court is not concerned with the wisdom or policy of the statute because "[q]uestions relating to the policy, wisdom, and expediency of the law are for the people's representatives in the legislature assembled, and not for the courts to determine." <u>Worthington v. Dist. Ct.</u>, 37 Nev. 212, 244 (1914).

II. Rules of construction for state constitutional provisions.

This Court has long held that the rules of statutory construction also govern the interpretation of state constitutional provisions, including provisions approved by the voters through a ballot initiative. <u>See Lorton v. Jones</u>, 130 Nev. 51, 56-57 (2014) (applying the rules of statutory construction to constitutional provisions approved by the voters through a ballot initiative); <u>State ex rel. Wright v. Dovey</u>, 19 Nev. 396, 399 (1887) ("In construing constitutions and statutes, the first and last duty of courts is to ascertain the intention of the convention and legislature; and in doing this they must be governed by well-settled rules, applicable alike to the construction of constitutions and statutes."). When applying the rules of construction to constitutional provisions, this Court's primary task is to ascertain the intent of the drafters and the voters and to adopt an interpretation that best captures their objective. <u>Nev. Mining</u>, 117 Nev. at 531. To ascertain the intent of the drafters and the voters, this Court will first examine the language of the constitutional provision to determine whether it has a plain and ordinary meaning. <u>Miller v. Burk</u>, 124 Nev. 579, 590 (2008). If the constitutional language is clear on its face and is not susceptible to any ambiguity, uncertainty or doubt, this Court will generally give the constitutional language its plain and ordinary meaning, unless doing so would violate the spirit of the provision or would lead to an absurd or unreasonable result. <u>Miller</u>, 124 Nev. at 590-91; <u>Nev. Mining</u>, 117 Nev. at 542 & n.29.

However, if the constitutional language is capable of "two or more reasonable but inconsistent interpretations," making it susceptible to ambiguity, uncertainty or doubt, this Court will interpret the constitutional provision according to what history, reason and public policy would indicate the drafters and the voters intended. <u>Miller</u>, 124 Nev. at 590 (quoting <u>Gallagher v. City of Las Vegas</u>, 114 Nev. 595, 599 (1998)). Under such circumstances, this Court will look "beyond the language to adopt a construction that best reflects the intent behind the provision." <u>Sparks Nugget v. State Dep't of Tax'n</u>, 124 Nev. 159, 163 (2008). Thus, if there is any ambiguity, uncertainty or doubt as to the meaning of a constitutional provision, "[t]he intention of those who framed the instrument must govern, and that intention may be gathered from the subject-matter, the effects and consequences, or from the reason and spirit of the law." <u>State ex rel. Cardwell v.</u> <u>Glenn</u>, 18 Nev. 34, 42 (1883).

Furthermore, even when there is some ambiguity, uncertainty or doubt as to the meaning of a constitutional provision, that ambiguity, uncertainty or doubt must be resolved in favor of the Legislature and its general power to enact When the Nevada Constitution imposes limitations upon the legislation. Legislature's power, those limitations "are to be strictly construed, and are not to be given effect as against the general power of the legislature, unless such limitations clearly inhibit the act in question." In re Platz, 60 Nev. 296, 308 (1940) (quoting Baldwin v. State, 3 S.W. 109, 111 (Tex. Ct. App. 1886)). As a result, the language of the Nevada Constitution "must be strictly construed in favor of the power of the legislature to enact the legislation under it." Id. Therefore, even when a constitutional provision imposes restrictions and limitations upon the Legislature's power, those "[r]estrictions and limitations are not extended to include matters not covered." City of Los Angeles v. Post War Pub. Works Rev. Bd., 156 P.2d 746, 754 (Cal. 1945).

For example, under the South Dakota Constitution, the South Dakota Legislature may pass its general appropriations bill to fund the operating expenses of state government by a majority of all the members elected to each House, but the final passage of any special appropriations bills to authorize funding for other purposes requires "a two-thirds vote of all the members of each branch of the Legislature." S.D. Const. art. III, § 18, art. XII, § 2. In interpreting this two-thirds majority requirement, the South Dakota Supreme Court has determined that the requirement must not be extended by construction or inference to include situations not clearly within its terms. <u>Apa v. Butler</u>, 638 N.W.2d 57, 69-70 (S.D. 2001). As further explained by the court:

[P]etitioners strongly urged during oral argument that the challenged appropriations from the [special funds] must be special appropriations because it took a two-thirds majority vote of each House of the legislature to create the two special funds in the first instance. Petitioners correctly pointed out that allowing money from the two funds to be reappropriated in the general appropriations bill would allow the legislature to undo by a simple majority vote what it took a two-thirds majority to create. On that basis, petitioners invite this Court to read a two-thirds vote requirement into the Constitution for the amendment or repeal of any special continuing appropriations measure. This we cannot do.

Our Constitution must be construed by its plain meaning: "If the words and language of the provision are unambiguous, 'the language in the constitution must be applied as it reads." <u>Cid v. S.D. Dep't of Social Servs.</u>, 598 N.W.2d 887, 890 (S.D. 1999). Here, the constitutional two-thirds voting requirement for appropriations measures is only imposed on the *passage* of a special appropriation. <u>See</u> S.D. Const. art. XII, § 2. There is no constitutional requirement for a two-thirds vote on the repeal or amendment of an existing special appropriation, not to mention a continuing special appropriation. Generally:

[s]pecial provisions in the constitution as to the number of votes required for the passage of acts of a particular nature . . . are not extended by construction or inference to include situations not clearly within their terms. Accordingly, a special provision regulating the number of votes necessary for the passage of bills of a certain character does not apply to the repeal of laws of this character, or to an act which only amends them.

<u>Apa</u>, 638 N.W.2d at 69-70 (quoting 82 C.J.S. <u>Statutes</u> § 39 (1999) (republished as 82 C.J.S. <u>Statutes</u> § 52 (Westlaw 2020))).

Lastly, in matters involving state constitutional law, this Court is the final interpreter of the meaning of the Nevada Constitution. <u>Nevadans for Nev. v.</u> <u>Beers</u>, 122 Nev. 930, 943 n.20 (2006) ("A well-established tenet of our legal system is that the judiciary is endowed with the duty of constitutional interpretation."); <u>Guinn v. Legislature (Guinn II)</u>, 119 Nev. 460, 471 (2003) (describing this Court's justices "as the ultimate custodians of constitutional meaning."). Nevertheless, even though the final power to decide the meaning of the Nevada Constitution ultimately rests with the judiciary, "[i]n the performance of assigned constitutional duties each branch of the Government must initially interpret the Constitution, and the interpretation of its powers by any branch is due great respect from the others." <u>United States v. Nixon</u>, 418 U.S. 683, 703 (1974).

Accordingly, this Court has recognized that a reasonable construction of a constitutional provision by the Legislature should be given great weight. <u>State ex</u> <u>rel. Coffin v. Howell</u>, 26 Nev. 93, 104-05 (1901); <u>State ex rel. Cardwell v. Glenn</u>, 18 Nev. 34, 43-46 (1883). This is particularly true when a constitutional provision

concerns the passage of legislation. <u>Id.</u> Thus, when construing a constitutional provision, "although the action of the legislature is not final, its decision upon this point is to be treated by the courts with the consideration which is due to a co-ordinate department of the state government, and in case of a reasonable doubt as to the meaning of the words, the construction given to them by the legislature ought to prevail." <u>Dayton Gold & Silver Mining Co. v. Seawell</u>, 11 Nev. 394, 399-400 (1876).

The weight given to the Legislature's construction of a constitutional provision involving legislative procedure is of particular force when the meaning of the constitutional provision is subject to any uncertainty, ambiguity or doubt. Nev. Mining, 117 Nev. at 539-40. Under such circumstances, the Legislature may rely on an opinion of its counsel which interprets the constitutional provision, and "the Legislature is entitled to deference in its counseled selection of this interpretation." Id. at 540. For example, when the meaning of the term "midnight Pacific standard time"—as formerly used in the constitutional provision limiting legislative sessions to 120 days—was subject to uncertainty, ambiguity and doubt following the 2001 legislative session, this Court explained that the Legislature's interpretation of the constitutional provision was entitled to deference because "[i]n choosing this interpretation, the Legislature acted on Legislative Counsel's opinion that this is a reasonable construction of the provision. We agree that it is,
and the Legislature is entitled to deference in its counseled selection of this interpretation." Id.

Consequently, in determining whether the two-thirds requirement applies to a particular bill, the Legislature has the power to interpret the two-thirds requirement—in the first instance—as a reasonable and necessary corollary power to the exercise of its expressly granted and exclusive constitutional power to enact laws by the passage of bills. See Nev. Const. art. 4, § 23 (providing that "no law shall be enacted except by bill."); State ex rel. Torreyson v. Grey, 21 Nev. 378, 380-84 (1893) (discussing the power of the Legislature to interpret constitutional provisions governing legislative procedure). Moreover, because the two-thirds requirement involves the exercise of the Legislature's lawmaking power, any uncertainty, ambiguity or doubt regarding the application of the two-thirds requirement must be resolved in favor of the Legislature's lawmaking power and against restrictions on that power. See Platz, 60 Nev. at 308 (stating that the language of the Nevada Constitution "must be strictly construed in favor of the power of the legislature to enact the legislation under it.").

Finally, when the Legislature exercises its power to interpret the two-thirds requirement in the first instance, the Legislature may resolve any uncertainty, ambiguity or doubt regarding the application of the two-thirds requirement by following an opinion of its counsel which interprets the constitutional provision, and this Court will typically afford the Legislature deference in its counseled selection of that interpretation. Nev. Mining, 117 Nev. at 40.

III. The Legislature could reasonably conclude that AB 458 was not subject to the two-thirds requirement because the bill did not change—but maintained—the existing legally operative amount of subsection 4 credits at \$6,655,000, which is the amount that was legally in effect before the passage of AB 458 and which is the amount that is now legally in effect after the passage of AB 458.

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